91867-8

No. 72438-0-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON UL - 6 2015 THE CITY OF BURLINGTON CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT THE CITY OF BURLINGTON CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT V.

THE WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR CONTROL BOARD, HAKAM SINGH AND JANE DOE SINGH, and HK INTERNATIONAL, LLC.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Corbin T. Volluz Attorney for Respondents Hakam Singh and HK International, LLC.

508 South Second Street Mount Vernon, WA 98273 360-336-0154 WSBA #19325

IV. Issues Presented for Review

Issue No. 1—Whether an appellate court is required to permit a party to file additional declarations and evidence after the normal briefing schedule is concluded, and after oral argument is conducted, so that the party may establish its standing for appellate review.

Issue No. 2—Whether an appellate court abuses its discretion by not permitting a party to file additional declarations and evidence after the briefing schedule is concluded, and after oral argument is conducted. **Issue No. 3**—Whether one party to an appeal may take advantage of an allegedly ambiguous oral statement from the trial judge in order to late-file declarations and evidence, even when the trial judge herself clarifies that was never her intent.

Issue No. 4—Whether a trial judge has the authority to control the schedule of filing declarations and evidence in her own courtroom.

V. Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review

3

<u>Consideration No. 1</u>—The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court standing for the fundamental proposition that a trial judge has the discretion to control

1

the schedule for filing declarations and evidence in matters before her.

<u>Consideration No. 2</u>—The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with other decisions of the Court of Appeals standing for the fundamental proposition that a trial judge has the discretion to control the schedule for filing declarations and evidence in matters before her.

<u>Consideration No. 3</u>—The fundamental proposition that a trial judge has the discretion to control the schedule for filing declarations and evidence in matters before her involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

VI. Washington Supreme Court Decisions in Conflict

The abuse of discretion standard applies to review of a trial court's decision on a motion to strike a declaration or affidavit allegedly containing inadmissible evidence. *W.R. Grace & Co. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 137 Wash.2d 580, 591, 973 P.2d 1011 (1999).

Oltman v. Holland Am. Line USA, Inc., 163 Wash. 2d 236, 247, 178 P.3d 981, 988 (2008).

A ruling on a motion to strike is discretionary with the trial court.

King Cnty. Fire Prot. Districts No. 16, No. 36 & No. 40 v. Hous. Auth. of King Cnty., 123 Wash. 2d 819, 826, 872 P.2d 516, 519 (1994).

In addition to asserting that the trial court erred in granting the State's motion for an order shortening time to hear its motion for summary judgment, CAT claims that the trial court failed to strike several newspaper articles and press releases attached to declarations in support of the State's motion for summary judgment. This ruling is also discretionary. Thus, CAT must show manifest abuse of discretion. *In re Dependency of E.S.*, 92 Wash.App. at 769, 964 P.2d 404; *Coggle*, 56 Wash.App. at 504, 784 P.2d 554. However, CAT does not advance any argument showing such manifest abuse of discretion. Accordingly, we conclude that the trial court did not err in not striking these newspaper articles and press releases.

State ex rel. Citizens Against Tolls (CAT) v. Murphy, 151 Wash. 2d 226, 240, 88 P.3d 375, 382 (2004).

VII. Washington Court of Appeals Decisions in Conflict

Whether to accept or reject untimely filed affidavits is within the trial court's discretion. *See Brown v. Peoples Mortgage Co.*, 48 Wash.App. 554, 559–60, 739 P.2d 1188 (1987) (citing KCLR 56(c)(1)(B), the court found no abuse of discretion when a trial court struck a supplemental affidavit filed on the same day as a scheduled summary judgment proceeding) (citing *Jobe v. Weyerhaeuser Co.*, 37 Wash.App. 718, 684 P.2d 719 (1984)).

O'Neill v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington, 124 Wash. App. 516, 521-22, 125 P.3d 134, 136 (2004).

VIII. Statement of the Case

HK International, LLC, operates a convenience store in the City of

Burlington under the name, "Skagit Big Mini Mart." Hakam Singh is the

owner of HK International.

.

HK International was the successful bidder in the auction which

closed on April 20, 2012, for State Store #152 within the City of

5

Burlington. AR 14. The private landlord of the premises of State Store #152 refused to lease the premises to Hakam Singh, the owner of HK International, LLC. AR 23. Accordingly, Hakam Singh notified the Board on May 7, 2012 that he wished to move the location of the "operating right" about one-half mile from the location of the former state store to the location of his "Skagit Big Mini Mart." AR 23.

1

1. Singh's History of Being Licensed Without Violations

Singh applied for a spirits retail license at the new location of the store where it had held licenses to sell beer and wine since 2003. AR 23. The Board examined the history of the applicant, and the history of the location, with regard to liquor and tobacco sales. The most recent violation for a sale of alcohol to a person under age 21 occurred more than four years prior to the decision to grant the application for the spirits retail license. AR 43-48. Despite close attention from the Board's enforcement staff, there had been no more recent violations. The record further showed that the Liquor Control Board had conducted recent "compliance checks" at the location and the licensee refused to sell liquor to the underage operative used by the Board. AR 48.

2. The City Provided No Facts to Support its Vague Assertions of Public Safety Concerns

6

The Board notified the City of Singh's request for a spirits retail license at the new location by "Notice of Liquor License Application" dated May 14, 2012. AR 36. The City objected to the location and submitted a three-page letter dated May 31, 2012. AR 37-39.

1

The City focused its letter-objection on the authority of the Board to grant such a request, not on any public safety concerns regarding the location. Only on the final page of the letter did the City briefly address such concerns, choosing to include only vague and unsubstantiated allegations with no supporting documentation. AR 39

The Board also solicited input from Board employee Roxanne Johnson, who referenced an anonymous Investigative Aid who "says he knows kids who buy alcohol there all the time." AR 41. Ms. Johnson also stated on one afternoon she saw "a stream of kids from the high school go into the store," though Ms. Johnson admits she "didn't see any come out with beer." *Id*.

In short, Ms. Johnson's email comments contained only triplehearsay in the first paragraph, and no personal observations in her second paragraph.

3. The Decision of the Board Shows the Licensing Director Carefully Considered the City's Objections

The Board's Licensing Director reviewed the report of the Licensing Division staff (AR 34-35) who investigated the application and the materials submitted with the application. The Licensing Director provided the City with a "Statement of Intent to Approve Liquor License Over the Objection of the City of Burlington" dated August 31, 2012. AR 29-31.

•

The Statement of Intent took into account the issues raised by the City relating to public safety, but found, "In examining the record, there have been no liquor violations at the existing grocery store licensed premise for the past four years and several compliance checks conducted by the Liquor Control Board resulted in no sale. The City did not demonstrate any conduct that constitutes chronic illegal activity as defined by RCW 66.24.010(12) at this premise. The City of Burlington's objection does not conclusively link the licensee and areas under the licensee's control to the information cited in the city's objection." AR 30, paragraphs 3.2, 3.3 and 3.5.

The Board subsequently issued its "Final Order of the Board" approving Singh's license application, and offering the City the ability to request reconsideration: "Pursuant to RCW 34.05.470, you have ten (10)

days from the mailing of this Order to file a petition for reconsideration stating the specific grounds on which relief is requested." AR 49-51, at 50.

.

4. The City Did Not Seek Reconsideration or Seek to Supplement the Record Before the Board or the Superior Court

Rather than asking the Board to reconsider, or to provide the Board with information to support any public safety concerns, The City appealed the Board's decision to the Thurston County Superior Court.

Here it should be noted that the City is granted standing at the administrative level by statute. RCW 66.24.010(8). The same is not true, however, on appeal of the administrative decision.

5. The City was Aware of Its Obligation to Establish Standing in its Opening Brief but Relied Solely on the Administrative Record.

The City was aware of its legal obligation to establish standing for the appeal, and addressed the issue extensively in its Opening Brief to the Superior Court. CP 22, pp. 13-15. The City, however, did not submit any additional evidence in support of its standing argument, but chose to rely on the administrative record filed by the Board.

The *Board's Response Brief*, dated March 22, 2013, included a lengthy section challenging the City's standing to appeal the Board's grant of the license. CP 24, pp. 15-19.

6. The City Did Not Seek to Supplement the Record to Show Standing with its Reply Brief.

,

In its Reply Brief, dated April 4, 2013, the City argued that it did have standing to bring the action, but once again chose to not introduce any additional evidence but to rely solely on the administrative record on file with the court. CP 26, pp. 12-13.

7. The City Did Not Seek to Supplement the Record Until Two Weeks After Oral Argument Before the Superior Court.

A hearing on the City's appeal was held July 19, 2013 before the Honorable Christine Schaller. After hearing argument from the parties, Judge Schaller directed counsel for the City to restrict his arguments to standing, advising that if she did not find the City had standing, she was not going to reach the other issues. 7/19/13 Hearing, RP 37. Judge Schaller then gave all parties the opportunity to provide additional "briefing" of no more than five pages on the issue of standing, provided a deadline for the submission of such briefing, and reserved her final ruling until after such submissions were made. It is important Judge Schaller be quoted in her entirety rather than cherry picking only certain phrases which may give an incorrect impression, as the Court of Appeals did in their decision. See *City of Burlington v. LCB*, **Exhibit A**, p. 11.

10

All right. Thank you. Even if I wanted to, I could not rule because it is noon. I think that by my questions and perhaps from my comments in general the way I see this case is probably clear and the issue that the Court is having difficulty with is standing. I would not be ruling today because I want to further look at this issue based upon some of the arguments made in court today that has made me look at this differently than I was approaching it prior to the hearing today, which is why we have argument.

I am going to allow, if any party wants to, to supplement the record on the issue of standing five pages per entity that is before the Court. You are not required to, but I want to give the parties an opportunity to do that. If you are going to supplement the record on the issue of standing on the briefing, that would need to be done by a week from today, which would be July 26th. I will issue a ruling by the close of business on July 31st.

7/19/13 Hearing, RP 40-41. (Emphasis added.)¹

7

The City misconstrued Judge Schaller's invitation to supply additional "briefing" on the issue of standing as an open door to file evidentiary declarations in support of the City's standing. This was clearly not Judge Schaller's intent, as manifested by the fact she specifically referred to "the issue of standing **on the briefing**." Making Judge Schaller's intent even more clear: (1) the supplemental briefing was limited to five pages; (2) she made the same invitation to the Board and to

¹ The deadline for submitting additional briefing was subsequently changed to August 2^{nd} at the request of counsel for the City of Burlington. *Id*.

HK International; and, (3) no mention was made of supplementation by means of additional evidence or affidavits.²

.

The City at no point requested clarification from Judge Schaller, but instead seized upon its alleged misunderstanding to file 9-pages of declarations from three persons on August 2, 2013, *two weeks after* the July 19, 2013 hearing on the appeal. CP 32-37.

8. The Superior Court Struck the City's Late-Filed Declarations as Untimely.

On August 5, 2013, Respondents filed objections to the City's filing of extra-record declarations and moved to strike them as too late, as improper, and as an attempt to supplement the record without leave of court (citing RCW 34.05.562 and RCW 34.05.558 for when a court may receive evidence in a case to be decided on the administrative record). CP 39-40.

A hearing on the Motion to Strike the City's late-filed declarations was held on August 23, 2013, at which time Judge Schaller made it clear that she had **not** extended an invitation to the City to submit late

 $^{^2}$ It is clear from the 7/19/13 transcript that the superior court did not anticipate any additional opportunity for hearing, argument, or response to the supplemental briefing on standing. Judge Schaller offered the opportunity for additional briefing to be submitted by the parties, then indicated she would make her ruling. The parties only had the opportunity for argument on the City's additional evidence because Respondent moved to strike the declarations—otherwise, Judge Schaller would have made her ruling on the briefing alone.

declarations in support of standing, but only to supply additional briefing

and argument:

At the conclusion of the hearing on July 19th, I told the parties that, initially, I had been prepared to rule from the bench but that, based upon arguments to the court, I wanted to further consider the issue of standing, and I invited each of the three parties to provide **supplemental briefing**, up to five pages each, on that issue.

And insomuch as the Court may have caused any confusion, I apologize for that, but it was never the intent of the Court that there be supplemental declarations submitted at that point. 8-23-13 Hearing, RP 3 (emphasis added).

Judge Schaller granted the motion to strike the late declarations in the

following carefully considered and balanced language:

[A]s I've looked at this case and the issue of standing being challenged from the very beginning, it was a question in my mind, well, how can the City of Burlington prove standing if they can't supplement the record, because they're not trying to prove standing for a Court's review when they are submitting their information to the Liquor Control Board.

And I think I better now understand really how that process is supposed to happen, and I'm going to grant the motion to strike. And that is because, even before I read the case that certainly isn't binding on the court, it's consistent with what I'd already decided I was going to rule, and that's the *Sierra Club vs. EPA* case [I.e., *Sierra Club v. Environmental Protection Agency*, 292 F.3d 895, 900 (D.C. Cir. 2002)] that was cited by Mr. Volluz in his supplemental briefing. That's consistent with what I ultimately concluded. And that is, initially, the City knew that standing is a requirement of the Administrative Law Review process when the Court is going to review an agency's decision. Maybe that's because it's addressed in their opening brief. Clearly, the City believed that they had sufficient evidence at that time to support the issue of standing and that, if they didn't, they would have filed additional declarations to supplement the record on the issue of standing as it relates to the matter before the Court. And if the respondents had objected, had the City done that, I would have denied any objections, and I would have considered that information.

.

But in this case, it went even further than that, because the response filed in this matter clearly argued first and foremost, I think, that the Court shouldn't get to the merits of the case because there is no standing, and there was quite a bit of information. And I believe Mr. Volluz said he drafted that portion of the brief. There was a big section on standing in the State's brief. And so the City was well on notice at that point that the respondents believed that the Court did not have jurisdiction to hear this matter because the petitioners had no standing.

And contrary to the ruling in the *Sierra Club* case cited by Mr. Volluz, had the City at that point in their reply filed additional declarations with their reply brief, I would have considered those on the issue of standing above any objection, which I'm sure there would have been from the respondents, because, at that point, at least, it would be completely clear to the City that the issue of standing was a large issue that the Court was going to face.

And based upon all of that, I find it is too late for the City of Burlington to now supplement the record. And when I asked for supplementation, I was not inviting them to supplement factually the record; although, I believe they could have done that prior to our argument on July 19th. 8-23-13 Hearing RP 3-6.

9. Superior Court Ruled the City Did Not Establish Standing

Judge Schaller then announced that she would take the opportunity of the parties being present at the hearing on the Motion to Strike to rule on the appeal itself. Judge Schaller carefully considered the evidence properly submitted and ruled that the City had not established standing to bring the action in Thurston County Superior Court and dismissed the

City's appeal:

.

Standing, though, is the threshold question. And I can't make any rulings on the merits unless I find that there is standing. And I think it was well argued and well put that it is important to note that, just because someone is entitled to receive notice and object to something that an agency might do, that in and of itself does not then confer standing to bring an action for judicial review.

Under RCW 34.05.530, a person who is aggrieved or adversely affected by an agency action to have standing, there has to be three elements met: One, the agency action has prejudiced or is likely to prejudice that person; two, that the person's asserted interests are among those that the agency was required to consider when it engaged in the agency action challenged; and three, a judgment in favor of that person would substantially eliminate or redress the prejudice to the person caused or likely to be caused by the agency action.

Burlington has argued that the agency action has prejudiced it or is likely to prejudice it. The City is entrusted with ensuring public safety, and part of that includes preventing minors from obtaining alcohol. They're also entrusted with fighting crime. The record contains very little information on standing in this issue. The record contains information that the convenience store location is in an area where there have been numerous activities requiring law enforcement to respond, that there have been calls to the police department in this area, and an argument that this reflects a high area of crime. Additionally, there's evidence in the record that this minimart is just outside 500 feet of a high school.

Of the three criteria, clearly, number two is met, and that is that the City is among those whose opinion was required to be considered by the Board, and that did happen in this matter.

The other two factors, which are factors one and three, are referred to sometimes as an "injury in fact" test. And it must be proven that the City has a real interest in or injury, and that the relief requested will redress the harm suffered as a result of the agency action. If it's a threatened injury and not a real injury—which is this case, it's a threatened injury—the City must demonstrate immediate, concrete and specific injury. And I do not recognize, I don't think standing is a really high burden to meet. But in this case, it simply has not been met, because there was no immediate, concrete or specific injury really that was argued or put into the record by the City, and the few statements that were made were really conjectural and hypothetical.

And based upon that, I find the petitioner does not have standing, and, therefore, the petition must be dismissed. 8-23-13 Hearing, RP 15-17.

The City then appealed Judge Schaller's decision to the Court of

Appeals.

.

10. The Court of Appeals Reversed, Tacitly Holding the Superior Court Abused Its Discretion in Striking the City's Late-Filed Declarations and Evidence

In City of Burlington V. Washington State Liquor Control Board;

Hakam Singh and Jane Doe Singh; and HK International, No. 72438-0-1,

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