RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jul 13, 2015, 3:34 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 91867-8

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE CITY OF BURLINGTON, a Washington Municipal Corporation,

Respondent,

v.

HAKAM SINGH AND JANE DOE SINGH, and the marital community composed thereof; and HK INTERNATIONAL, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Petitioners,

and

THE WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR CONTROL BOARD, a Washington Agency,

Defendant.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

### D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

### (1) The City Had Standing to Seek Judicial Review Here

The license applicants do not offer any analysis as to why the Court of Appeals' decision on the City's standing, op. at 5-9, 12-20, merits review. They do not assert that the Court of Appeals' analysis conflicted with decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals, that the decision in any way implicates constitutional issues, or that the decision involves an important issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b).

Simply put, the Court of Appeals determined that the City met the long-established APA test for standing expressed in RCW 34.05.530 and in this Court's decision in *Seattle Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council v. Apprenticeship & Training Council*, 129 Wn.2d 787, 793, 920 P.2d 581 (1996). Op. at 5-6. The court determined that the City met all the

requirements of the standing test, particularly given a city's involvement with the licensure of liquor premises within its boundaries. *Id.* at 9 ("...where, as here, the Board issued an alleged illegal license, no person or entity processes a more compelling interest for standing purposes than the City.").

In specific, the court recognized that the parties all agreed that the City met the zone of interest requirement of this Court's test. *Id.* at 6. The court also determined that the City met the injury-in-fact prong of this Court's APA standing test.

The Court of Appeals analysis is sensible and does not merit this Court's review. The City was a party in the administrative process. <sup>10</sup> It is undisputed that RCW 66.24.010(8) confers upon the City a statutory *right* to request a hearing that the WSLCB refused to hold. Even without a hearing, by filing an objection, the City became a *party* in the underlying administrative proceeding. There was no challenge, or any basis to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The quantum of interest required for standing to pursue judicial review of administrative action is quite small, particularly when there are important interests to be vindicated. As Professor Davis has put it: "The basic idea that comes out in numerous cases is that an identifiable trifle is enough for standing to fight out a question of principle; the trifle is the basis for standing and the principle supplies the motivation." Kenneth Culp Davis, Standing: Taxpayers and Others, 35 U. Chi. L. Rev. 601, 613 (1968).

The WSLCB accepted the City's standing in that process because it ruled on the merits without contesting the City's standing and did not argue to the trial court that the City lacked standing in the administrative process. RP 5.

challenge, the City's standing in the administrative proceeding because the APA gave the City standing in that process as a matter of law. 11

Ultimately, it is anomalous that a party could have standing in the administrative process on an issue, but not on judicial review. Snohomish County Public Transportation Benefit Area v. State, 173 Wn. App. 504, 509-14, 294 P.3d 803 (2013) (agency involved in PERC administrative process had standing to seek judicial review of PERC's issuance of a ruling that grievance arbitration provisions would survive the expiration of a collective bargaining agreement because such ruling affected the agency in future labor negotiations). That is similarly true here where, as the Court of Appeals acknowledged, op. at 1, the City as a general government possesses broad police power to protect the health, welfare, peace, and safety of its residents. RCW 35A.11.020. See also, Wash. Const. art. XI § 11. Such police power extends to liquor-related activities and it is undisputed that liquor and the sale of liquor can create conditions detrimental to the health, welfare, peace and safety of the public. 12

RCW 34.05.010(1) defines an "adjudicative proceeding" as a proceeding before an agency in which "an opportunity for a hearing" is provided by statute and "is contested by a person having standing to contest under the law." (emphasis added).

The police power of local government was not preempted by the Liquor Act. RCW 66.08.120. Local governments were given the responsibility of investigating and prosecuting violations of the Liquor Act, including those relating to minors. RCW 66.44.270. Local government input on WSLCB licensure decisions was deemed significant where local government objections, including those relating to premises

The Court of Appeals determined specifically that the City met the injury-in-fact aspect of the standing test, an element that "is not meant to be a demanding requirement." Op. at 13. See generally, op. at 12-20. Again, the license applicants nowhere dispute the principles of law as to injury-in-fact set forth in the Court of Appeals opinion or document how review on that aspect of standing is met under RAP 13.4(b), particularly in light of this Court's decision in Allan v. University of Washington, 140 Wn.2d 323, 997 P.2d 360 (2000), a case where the wife of faulty member did not establish injury-in-fact to challenge amendments to faulty code adjudicative procedures because she was not personally affected by such procedures.

By contrast here, the Court of Appeals analysis on injury-in-fact is well-supported whether based on the City's original letter to the WSLCB opposing relocation or as supported by the supplemental declarations to be discussed *infra*.

RCW 66.24.010(12) provides that if there is "chronic illegal activity" the WSLCB must give the objection of local government "substantial weight." Even in the absence of chronic illegal activity associated with a site, subsections (8) and (9) of RCW 66.24.010

locations must be considered. RCW 66.24.010(8). The Act also provided locational restrictions on licenses near parks owned and operated by local governments. RCW 66.24.010(9).

specifically require the WSLCB to provide notice to a municipality so that public concerns may be considered and that the Board must give "due consideration" to the location of the licensee and its proximity to churches, schools, and other public institutions. RCW 66.24.010(9)(a). The WSLCB's decision here reflected no consideration of anything other than "chronic illegal activity;" it failed to provide "due consideration" to the City's other legitimate objections to the license applicants' proposed license relocation.

In its letter to the Board, the City not only took the position that the WSLCB had no legal basis to move the site of the liquor store pursuant to I-1183, it also informed the WSLCB that the proposed location "is the site of numerous activities requiring law enforcement involvement, and that the Burlington Police Department had "logged many calls" to the proposed license location. AR 39. It also noted that a liquor store "is incompatible with land use in the area" particularly incompatible with Burlington High School which is situated just beyond 500 feet from the entrance to the proposed location, and that high-school aged children frequent this area going to and from school, and that adding liquor "will necessarily bring children into frequent close contact with those individuals who commit the crimes that plague the Skagit Big Mini-Mart." AR 39.

The City's concerns were also echoed by its own enforcement officer who investigated the proposed location; Officer Johnson stated that she had seen "a stream of kids from the high school go into the store," and that "[a]s a liquor officer and a parent I am concerned a spirits license for this premises is an invitation to add to the serious problem of youth access to alcohol." RP 41. The City would be compelled by the WSLCB's relocation decision permitting liquor sales at a mini-mart near the high school to dedicate additional law enforcement resources to ensure that youth would not obtain liquor through theft or deception. The dedication of additional resources constitutes "injury-in-fact."

The special role local government plays in regard to protecting the "welfare, health, morals, and safety of the people," coupled with its specific rights and duties under the Act, has been recognized by the courts; a city speaks for all of its citizens and not just an interested few. In *Sukin v. Wash. State Liquor Control Board*, 42 Wn. App. 649, 710 P.2d 814, 816 (1985), review denied, 105 Wn.2d 1017 (1986), Division III affirmed a decision of the WSLCB to allow the City of Spokane to submit its objections to the renewal of the Sukins' liquor license which was submitted after the twenty-day period provided for such submissions in RCW 66.24.010(8), holding that to preclude the WSLCB from considering Spokane's untimely objection to license renewal "would frustrate the

purpose of the liquor control act as expressed in RCW 66.08.010." *Id.*The same is true here in regard to the City's timely objection which raised the illegality of the WSLCB's relocation decision, the mini-mart location's proximity to the high school, the "high level of crime that occurs at the licensee's business," and its incompatibility with the land use in the area including an adjacent park.<sup>13</sup>

In sum, the petitioner license applicants have failed to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals decision on standing merits review under RAP 13.4(b). In fact, they failed to actually argue or analyze any grounds under that rule as to standing.<sup>14</sup> By failing to do so, they *concede* that the Court

The Court of Appeals did not reach the City's associational standing argument, but that doctrine also supports the Court of Appeals and would be raised by the City, if and only if review is granted, as another basis to sustain the Court of Appeals. Washington courts have long recognized the associational standing of a variety of groups to obtain judicial review of administrative decision, including unions and other associations. Trades Council, 129 Wn.2d at 795 (union petitioners met injury-in-fact requirement where future economic impact was present); Mukilteo Citizens for Simple Government, 174 Wn.2d 41, 46, 272 P.3d 227 (2012) (citizens association had standing to file action to prevent ballot proposition repealing ordinance authorizing use of automated traffic cameras); National Elec. Contractors Ass'n v. Employment Sec. Dep't, 109 Wn. App. 213, 221-22, 34 P.3d 860 (2001) (employer association); Hunt v. Wash. State Apple Advertising Comm'n, 432 U.S. 333, 342-43, 97 S. Ct. 2434, 53 L. Ed. 2d 383 (1997) (Apple Commission could state claims of its apple grower/dealer members); Pugh v. Evergreen Hosp. Medical Center, 177 Wn. App. 363, 365-66, 312 P.3d 665 (2013), review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1007 (2014) (nurses union had associational standing to bring action for its members regarding missed rest breaks). As a general purpose government, the City's objections reflect not only its objections as a city, but the concerns, injury, and potential injury to its citizens. Plainly, the license applicants' neighbors, City residents, have standing to protest the licensure of a mini-mart selling liquor near Burlington High School and a public park. So did the City in its representative capacity.

A further basis for standing here is the WSLCB's failure to comply with procedural requirements that applied to it. The Court of Appeals declined to reach that issue as well. Op. at 20. Again, if and only if this Court was to grant review, the City

of Appeals correctly resolved the standing issue, the principal decision before the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.7(b).

(2) The Court of Appeals Correctly Ruled That the Trial Court
Abused Its Discretion in Excluding Additional Evidence on
Standing

The only issue in the Court of Appeals decision upon which the license applicants offer any analysis is the Court of Appeals' determination that the trial court abused its discretion in excluding three declarations on standing submitted to the trial court. The license applicants contend this decision is contrary to two federal court decisions. Pet. at 18-20. But the Court of Appeals fully addressed the admissibility of those declarations and the referenced federal cases in its opinion. Op. at 10-12. Critically, the court concluded that the City established injury-

reserves the right to raise this basis for standing to further sustain the Court of Appeals petition.

This Court has held that a failure of an agency to comply with procedural requirements alone establishes sufficient injury to confer standing. Allan, supra at 330; Trades Council, supra at 794. In Trades Council, like here, the agency failed to provide for a hearing. This Court held that a hearing was required under the APA, specifically RCW 34.05.010(9)(a) and RCW 34.05.422(1)(b), even though approval of apprenticeship programs was not required by law since compliance with RCW 49.04 (which provided for program certification) was voluntary. Those same sections would require a hearing here. See also, Ellensburg Cement Products, Inc. v. Kittitas County, 179 Wn.2d 737, 747 n.2, 317 P.3d 1047 (2014) (due process principle requires that a party must be given an opportunity to make a record either before the administrative body or in court). Here, the City would have presented evidence at a hearing before the WSLCB to create a sufficient record to further demonstrate actual or potential "injury-in-fact" for standing purposes. The WSLCB chose not to convene a hearing. Instead, the WSLCB merely approved the tentative decision of its director for licensing. RP 28. ("The final order was granted in somewhat of a summary fashion, with not a lot of explanation as to the Board's rationality.") The trial court should have allowed the City a legitimate opportunity to create a record on standing, but did not do so.

in-fact, with or without those declarations. Op. at 12. Review of such a narrow ruling is certainly not worthy of this Court's attention in light of this fact.

The declarations at issue *reinforce* the City's position on injury-infact and their admission is consistent with this Court's decisions. Burlington's Mayor Sexton testified that any increase in the workload for law enforcement impacts the City's ability to maintain public safety and has an impact on the City's budget. CP 154. Lieutenant Tom Moser testified that since January 2009 the City's police responded on 202 occasions to the license applicant's mini-mart site as compared to 22 occasions to the site of the former state liquor store (one of which only involved traffic enforcement). CP 157. City Planning Director Fleek testified about the adjoining park; that youth often pass by and purchase items at the store; that they would come into contact with liquor advertising; and that a liquor license at the mini-mart would change the character of the nearby residential neighborhood. CP 159-61. The trial

<sup>15</sup> The evidence that the license applicants' mini-mart is adjacent to a park is a matter of which the trial court could have taken judicial notice. ER 201. ER 201(b) states that a court may take judicial notice of facts "not subject to reasonable dispute." Geography or location is frequently noticed judicially. Long ago, this Court upheld judicial notice of the fact that the Snohomish River empties into Puget Sound. Vail v. McGuire, 50 Wash. 187, 96 Pac. 1042 (1908). See also, State v. Hardamon, 29 Wn.2d 182, 186 P.2d 634 (1947) (Seattle is in King County); Lofberg v. Viles, 39 Wn.2d 493, 236 P.2d 768 (1951) (Chehalis is in Lewis County); State v. Portnoy, 43 Wn. App. 455, 718 P.2d 805, review denied, 106 Wn.2d 1013 (1986) (Bonny Lake is in Pierce County).

court's reversal of its own decision to ask the parties to supplement the record on standing was an abuse of discretion.

Washington law recognizes the ability of courts to admit additional evidence on review, particularly when an unlawful procedure or decisionmaking process has been employed. RCW 34.05.562(1). This is particularly true where additional evidence is needed to decide disputed issues of material fact not determined on the agency record. Wash. Independent Tel. Ass'n v. Wash. Util. & Transp. Comm'n, 110 Wn. App. 498, 518, 41 P.3d 1212 (2002), affirmed, 149 Wn.2d 17, 65 P.3d 319 (2003). Additional evidence may also be allowed when, like here, no administrative hearing occurred. Trades Council, supra at 798-99.16 Thus, the Court of Appeals decision that it was appropriate for additional evidence to be considered by the trial court and was an abuse of discretion to exclude it, particularly when the effect was to deny judicial review to a general government of illegal agency action, is fully supported and does not merit review by this Court.

In Northwest Envt'l Defense Ctr. v. Bonneville Power Admin., 117 F.3d 1520, 1527-28 (9th Cir. 1997), in circumstances paralleling this case,

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